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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We are at the

          3  new fiscal year, and merry new fiscal year. Not in

          4  the spirit of the Post editorial today, but more in

          5  the spirit of good government. And this happens to

          6  be the Governmental Operations Committee and I want

          7  to welcome everyone for their attendance. I want to

          8  first acknowledge some of the members that are here,

          9  Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr., of Queens;

         10  Council Member Joseph Addabbo; Council Member Philip

         11  Reed; Council Member Christine Quinn; Janet Ford,

         12  our Counsel to the Committee, and other members I'm

         13  sure will be here shortly.

         14                 We have three items on the agenda

         15  today. The first is proposed Intro. 227-A. A bill

         16  that changes the name of the Department of Public

         17  Health to the Department of Health and Mental

         18  Hygiene, and want to acknowledge that the

         19  Commissioner is here today to testify on that bill.

         20                 The second is proposed, is Intro. No.

         21  65-A, a bill to change the reporting requirement

         22  relating to needs and descriptions of the City's

         23  waterfront properties.

         24                 And the third is proposed Intro. No.

         25  27-A, a bill requiring that gender-neutral language
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          2  be used in all documents, materials and laws

          3  generated by the City of New York.

          4                 We will have a vote on both the name

          5  change bill, and the waterfront bill at the end of

          6  this hearing.

          7                 But at this point we are going to

          8  hear testimony on Intro. No. 27-A.

          9                 We will hear from the Commissioner at

         10  this time, if you don't mind. Thank you.

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman, and members of the Committee.

         13                 MS. FORD: Good morning, Commissioner.

         14  It's the custom of this Committee to swear people in

         15  before we proceed. I have a new script here, so I'll

         16  read it.

         17                 Do you promise to tell the whole

         18  truth, nothing but the truth, in your testimony

         19  before this Committee, and to respond honestly to

         20  Council Member questions?

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I promise.

         22                 MS. FORD: Thank you.

         23                 Would you please, for the record,

         24  state your name and affiliation?

         25                 MR. FRIEDEN: My name is Dr. Thomas
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          2  Frieden. My affiliation is the subject of this

          3  hearing, the precise name of it, but I am as of

          4  today Commissioner of the newly authorized

          5  Department which combines the Department of Health,

          6  and the Department of Mental Health, Mental

          7  Retardation and Alcoholism Services.

          8                 Thank you very much for this

          9  opportunity to testify and for accommodating this

         10  legislation.

         11                 The Department of Health has existed

         12  in various forms for more than 130 years and the

         13  Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and

         14  Alcoholism Services for 40 years.

         15                 As you know, on November 6th, 2001,

         16  the voters approved a Charter change to merge these

         17  two departments.

         18                 In order to give the two departments

         19  sufficient time to accomplish the complex tasks

         20  involved in the merger, the City determined that

         21  July 1, today, would be the formal date of the

         22  merger.

         23                 As we have planned for the merger we

         24  have consulted widely within and outside of the

         25  agencies, and have learned lessons from other merger
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          2  experiences.

          3                 As I have stated before, this is a

          4  merger of equal agencies, each with unique strengths

          5  and wonderful organizational cultures. At the single

          6  department there will be synergies from which all

          7  New Yorkers will benefit.

          8                 While this bill changing the name of

          9  the new Department is quite modest in scope, I do

         10  view it as important to the success of the merger,

         11  both with the public and within the new agency.

         12                 The name of an agency reflects to the

         13  public its employees and others in the field its

         14  mission and function, therefore, the name of an

         15  agency is not just a technicality.

         16                 The name, Department of Health and

         17  Mental Hygiene, best reflects our mission and

         18  purpose.

         19                 The addition of mental hygiene

         20  recognizes the important functions that are

         21  performed in what was previously the Department of

         22  Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Alcoholism

         23  Services and gives each of these three disability

         24  areas an equal status with the health functions of

         25  the new agency.
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          2                 Removing the word "public" from the

          3  health side also better reflects this broad scope of

          4  functions previously lodged in the Department of

          5  Health.

          6                 The Department of Health covers a

          7  wide spectrum of health-related activities,

          8  including epidemiology, the study of the patterns of

          9  disease in society, health promotion, disease

         10  prevention, environmental and occupational health,

         11  access to health care, and not just what is thought

         12  of as traditional public health functions, such as

         13  restaurant inspections and control of communicable

         14  diseases.

         15                 This amendment will create a name for

         16  the newly emerged Department that conforms to its

         17  functions and therefore contributes to a better

         18  understanding of its role.

         19                 Thank you, again, very much for

         20  giving me the opportunity to testify. I'd be happy

         21  to answer any questions at this time, if there are

         22  any.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me

         24  acknowledge the Chair of our Health Committee,

         25  Christine Quinn, if you have any questions you want
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          2  for comments?

          3                 Okay, Council Member Phil Reed.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair. Commissioner.

          6                 So the name of the new Committee is

          7  called?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The new agency

          9  would be called Department of Health and Mental

         10  Hygiene.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And why Mental

         12  Hygiene? Why use that terminology?

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There was a

         14  long set of discussions about this. The current

         15  Charter would have Department of Public Health,

         16  which would both be more narrow than health in many

         17  people's mind, and not separately recognize the

         18  mental hygiene areas. The mental hygiene is a bit of

         19  an unusual term for some people when you first hear

         20  it, including from me. There are, however, a variety

         21  of Departments of Health and Mental Hygiene

         22  throughout the country. The reason for that being,

         23  you might think health and mental health would be a

         24  more understandable name, however, the Department

         25  looks after three separate disability areas: Mental
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          2  health, mental retardation and alcoholism services.

          3                 And the developmental disabilities

          4  and mental retardation community is very, very

          5  forceful with their making the point, which is quite

          6  correct, that mental retardation is not an illness,

          7  it's a disability and a lifelong disability without

          8  a cure, and, so, they do not see themselves as a

          9  mental health issue, they see themselves as a

         10  disability and they see that as encompassed within

         11  the mental hygiene term more so than within the

         12  mental health term.

         13                 We've gotten, I should comment, some

         14  very positive feedback from the advocacy community

         15  about this proposed change, as being one that

         16  recognizes parity between the mental hygiene and the

         17  health aspects.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, that was

         19  really the nature of my question. I served with

         20  Christine on the Health Committee in the previous

         21  term, and I know that the mental health advocates

         22  and particularly the developmentally disabled were

         23  concerned, one, that their issues would be sort of

         24  put on the shelf. There was a lot of promises about

         25  how there be commitment of resources, but even in
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          2  the terminology. So, if you're saying, and I don't

          3  see them here lined up to tell us not to do it, that

          4  this is a positive terminology as far as they're

          5  concerned, and I think it's a good thing. And this

          6  has already been addressed to them, that this is

          7  what you are going to be proposing?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We've had

          9  informal discussions. We actually received an

         10  unsolicited letter from the federation of the

         11  Coalition of Mental Health Agencies are very pleased

         12  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Phil Shapiro's

         14  group.

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: That's right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Saperia rather.

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Saperia, right.

         18                 And the feeling is mental hygiene

         19  does, you know, you can't make 100 percent of the

         20  people happy, but we've made more people happier

         21  with this name than the previous name.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         23                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I know one of

         25  the persons that's happy with this change is the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  Chair of the Health Committee, Councilwoman

          3  Christine Quinn, and I'm just going to ask if you

          4  have had any communication with the Chairwoman of

          5  the Mental Health and Disabilities Committee?

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, I have. I

          7  have discussed with Council Member Lopez about the

          8  name change and she indicated that she had certainly

          9  no objection to it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes, I just

         11  want to say I originally opposed the concept of the

         12  merger, but, you know, as has happened with other

         13  referendums actually the voters have shockingly

         14  disagreed with me, but inasmuch as the merger is now

         15  in place, I think Commissioner Frieden is doing his

         16  absolute best, as is his entire staff, to make sure

         17  that the merger occurs in a way which gives both of

         18  the Departments, both of the former separate

         19  Departments, you know, full attention, and that

         20  neither of the many issues actually in both the

         21  agencies, that none of them get the short shrift,

         22  and I think just the fact that so much time and

         23  discussion occurred around the name indicates the

         24  attention that the entire merger is getting, and I

         25  think that mental hygiene was probably the best
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          2  compromise decision that will come closest to as two

          3  words possibly could, encapsulating all of the

          4  responsibilities that the former Department of

          5  Mental Health had.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          7  much, Commissioner, for your presence, and for the

          8  testimony that you gave and for the good work that

          9  you've been doing with us up til now.

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Thank you very

         11  much. I appreciate the opportunity.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Now we'll do

         13  proposed Intro. No. 27-A, and I believe there's

         14  someone from our Law Department here.

         15                 This is a bill sponsored, a gender

         16  neutral bill sponsored by the distinguished Council

         17  Member from the Borough of Manhattan, representing

         18  the El Barrio upper west side area, the Chair of our

         19  Consumer Affairs Committee, and one of our senior

         20  members, you know, some people know him as Bill, but

         21  he's really Phil, Phil Reed.

         22                 Councilman Phil Reed. Do you have a

         23  comment you want to make, Councilman?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes, thank you,

         25  Mr. Chair. I hope I'm distinguished in the Bronx
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          2  part of my district, too, because I don't know how

          3  the lines are going to be redrawn.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: From what I'm

          5  told, more so.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: There you go.

          7  Thank you very much.

          8                 No, simply to my colleagues, this is

          9  a bill that I think is long overdue. There is some

         10  archaic language that I think in some certainly of

         11  the City Council documents, but last year the state

         12  changed or recognized the concerns that we have to

         13  remain gender neutral and acknowledging the

         14  partnership that we have with women and the men in

         15  government, and that we shouldn't put a bias one way

         16  or the other, even though it may be an innocent

         17  bias, just in terms of the language. And, so, this

         18  bill is really a companion piece to that, and

         19  certainly as I said in terms of even we're drawing

         20  new lines, we're doing new boundaries, we refer to

         21  things as Councilmanic, I don't think that there's

         22  any reason why we should continue that rather

         23  archaic expression. And, so, I was hoping that we

         24  could do this in a timely fashion, so that when new

         25  boundary lines are drawn and we're putting out a new
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          2  Charter, et cetera, et cetera, that we address that.

          3                 So, thank you for having a hearing on

          4  this Mr. Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And the term

          6  Councilmanic, for the record, is problematic because

          7  of the fact --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, I'm not

          9  manic. I don't think so.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, that's not

         11  a gender situation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: No, that's a

         13  mental hygiene piece. Right, that's coupled together

         14  here.

         15                 But grammatically it doesn't even

         16  really make sense. You can be in the eighth Council

         17  district or the ninth Council district. There's no

         18  reason to call it the eighth Councilmanic or the

         19  33rd or the 22nd, that's especially important, the

         20  22nd. It's a borough, it's right next to me. Peter

         21  doesn't know he's bi-borough.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, we're --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you. Bring

         24  your Committee hearing back.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The Governmental
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          2  Operations Committee will now hear from our witness,

          3  and as appropriate she'll be sworn in.

          4                 MS. FORD: Would you please raise your

          5  right hand.

          6                 Do you promise to tell the whole

          7  truth and nothing but the truth in your testimony

          8  before this Committee and to respond honestly to

          9  Council member questions?

         10                 MS. MANN ALFARO: I do.

         11                 MS. FORD: Okay. For the record,

         12  please state your name and affiliation. Thank you.

         13                 MS. MANN ALFARO: Good morning. My

         14  name is Martha Mann Alfaro, and I'm the Deputy Chief

         15  of the Legal Counsel Division at the City Law

         16  Department. Thank you for this opportunity to

         17  testify on 27-A.

         18                 I look forward to working with the

         19  Committee on this bill and perhaps on other bills in

         20  the future.

         21                 We support the concept of this bill,

         22  and we just have some comments about some details,

         23  but we already make efforts at the Law Department

         24  and have done so for years to use appropriate

         25  language to refer to gender. We had a project with
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          2  the Council back in the eighties to recodify the

          3  Administrative Code, which is probably almost a

          4  dozen volumes of law, and as we recodified it, we

          5  went through carefully and changed all the pronouns

          6  and so forth to make them gender neutral. And we

          7  continue to do that when we draft legislation, and

          8  when we draft opinions coming out of our office. And

          9  also when we work with agencies on their

         10  rule-making.

         11                 In reviewing this legislation folks

         12  in our office do have several comments to offer you,

         13  and we would be glad to work with you to revise the

         14  bill to incorporate these things.

         15                 First, the bill should have a clear

         16  statement that failure to use gender neutral

         17  language would not invalidate a law or another

         18  document. It should be prospective, so that agencies

         19  won't have to dispose of their current materials and

         20  to make new forms to use in the future.

         21                 It should not take effect for a short

         22  time for the same reason, to give agencies enough

         23  time to get into compliance. It should allow for

         24  agencies to make exceptions where there's a need for

         25  a reference to one gender or another; for example,
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          2  cases dealing with pregnant women or deadbeat

          3  fathers.

          4                 And, finally, it should make clear

          5  that there's no intention --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Excuse me. I

          7  didn't understand that last point; what was it that

          8  you said?

          9                 MS. MANN ALFARO: If, for example, an

         10  agency is doing a contract that is specifically to

         11  provide services for women. For example, for

         12  pregnant women, or possibly testing for breast

         13  cancer, there may be reasons to use feminine

         14  pronouns in the contract, and it doesn't make sense

         15  to prohibit that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I appreciate

         17  that. But, I mean, your example of breast cancer,

         18  men get breast cancer.

         19                 MS. MANN ALFARO: It may be a bad

         20  example. Maybe pregnant women is the better example.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay.

         22                 MS. MANN ALFARO: And the last comment

         23  is that it should be clear that there's no intention

         24  to interfere with agencies collecting information

         25  about gender when that's necessary to carry out
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          2  their responsibilities, for example, in making

          3  personnel and medical and police records.

          4                 And we'd be glad to work with you on

          5  making any of these changes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm not quite

          7  sure "deadbeat dads" is a good example either. There

          8  are deadbeat parents.

          9                 MS. MANN ALFARO: Sure.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: They're not

         11  always fathers.

         12                 But I think the spirit, the point

         13  that you're trying to make is a good point, that

         14  where appropriate a gender-specific reference should

         15  be allowed.

         16                 In your testimony you make reference

         17  to a time frame on page one, the bill should be

         18  prospective only to ensure that agencies would not

         19  have to dispose of current materials, such as forms

         20  for failure to meet the standard. I assume that this

         21  is a concern that relates to like time to go back

         22  and fix everything up? Elaborate a little bit on why

         23  you think that's so important.

         24                 MS. MANN ALFARO: It's just a concern

         25  that if agencies have printed up documents and still
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          2  have a supply, that they shouldn't necessarily have

          3  to toss everything, and have new documents printed

          4  immediately, which is the effective date of the bill

          5  as drafted.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. But then

          7  you say bill should not take effect for a short

          8  period of time; how short is that period of time

          9  from your point of view? Do you see that as specific

         10  to --

         11                 MS. MANN ALFARO: Actually, before I

         12  answered that I would probably check with a few

         13  agencies to see how much lead time they need to

         14  change their forms, print new ones.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And then the

         16  other point: The bill should not include a clear

         17  statement that the failure to use gender-neutral

         18  language would not invalidate the law or other -- or

         19  document. What does it mean it would not invalidate

         20  the law? It would not be in violation of the law?

         21                 MS. MANN ALFARO: If, for example,

         22  this Council passed a law that happened to have a

         23  masculine pronoun and it slips by us and it gets

         24  signed by the Mayor and it gets published, we want

         25  that law to be enforceable. We may go back later and
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          2  make the correction, but that's an example.

          3                 If a contract is approved by our

          4  office, and signed by the parties and we miss the

          5  fact that it has a feminine pronoun and no masculine

          6  pronoun, and there's no reason for the contract to

          7  be gender-specific, we would want that contract to

          8  be enforceable. We wouldn't want a party who

          9  defaults on a contract to use this as a defense.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I see.

         11                 Now, so, you're saying, in other

         12  words, that would not, that contract would not be in

         13  violation of the law?

         14                 MS. MANN ALFARO: It should be

         15  enforceable, even though it would have that defect

         16  in it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And how do you

         18  correct for that defect?

         19                 MS. MANN ALFARO: Well, if you catch

         20  it and you correct a contract and both parties to

         21  the contract sign the correction, that would be

         22  enough.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, let me

         24  acknowledge the presence of some of our members that

         25  have arrived.
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          2                 The Chairwoman of our Education

          3  Committee Eva Moskowitz, Council Member Mike Nelson,

          4  Councilwoman Madeline Provenzano, and Majority Whip

          5  Leroy Comrie.

          6                 I believe we have a question from

          7  Councilwoman Eva Moskowitz.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair.

         10                 I was wondering if you could clarify

         11  what's the status of pronoun in this legislation?

         12  What is your interpretation of what happens with

         13  his/her?

         14                 MS. MANN ALFARO: Well, as we

         15  currently do now, and we draft rules and laws,

         16  whenever it's appropriate we use his or her, he or

         17  she, and sometimes we would just use words like

         18  Commissioner, and instead of saying the Commissioner

         19  shall exercise his or her duties, we might say the

         20  Commissioner shall exercise the Commissioner's

         21  duties, to avoid using only one pronoun.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: No slashes?

         23                 As a former college professor, I have

         24  an issue with he/she, slash.

         25                 MS. MANN ALFARO: We avoid slashes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilwoman

          4  Madeline Provenzano.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          6                 My question is really more toward the

          7  sponsor of the bill.

          8                 This is the first hearing, correct,

          9  on this bill?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, the first

         11  hearing.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: The bill

         13  is very compact, so I guess I'm having a problem

         14  with it. I'm thinking of the kinds of things where

         15  you would want to change something and I'm not

         16  getting, there's nothing coming in. But I would

         17  think that in order for you to do this, you must

         18  have had some specific agenda in mind to change

         19  this. So, I would just appreciate it if you could

         20  expand on it a little more as to why and how. I

         21  mean, the Councilmanic thing almost makes sense, not

         22  even making it a gender thing, and then, you know,

         23  okay, now it's a law you can't, Councilmanic is out,

         24  which doesn't mean a whole lot because people are

         25  still going to use it.
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          2                 In what kinds of documents, and maybe

          3  I'm sitting here being very dense, but I want, you

          4  know, I'd like you to be a little more clearer, what

          5  your intent of this bill is.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Mr. Chairman?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, please.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You know, a lot

          9  of it, Council Member Provenzano, really was driven

         10  by reading our own Council documents, and

         11  Councilmanic came up time and time again. I don't

         12  remember all of the examples, but I think as we go

         13  through it, that enough was enough to prompt me to

         14  do this, I mean I have a map, as many of us do on

         15  the office wall, and that's what it says, and I

         16  found it offensive and I know people come in and it

         17  just was an anachronism if nothing else, and

         18  grammatically so inelegant that I thought, well, why

         19  don't we just try to fix it, it just doesn't make

         20  any sense.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Why do we

         22  have to do it by law?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, a lot of

         24  our Charter uses that language, and I thought it was

         25  a much more efficient way to do it, and I think now
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          2  you're hearing other examples being brought up.

          3  Council Member Perkins referred to, and there was an

          4  amen over here with the deadbeat dad situation, so

          5  there's just sort of, while we all say we want to be

          6  gender-neutral, we're not, about some of the

          7  problems.

          8                 So, that was really the rationale for

          9  it, and I don't particularly have a problem with the

         10  Administration's concern, although I would suggest

         11  that in terms of the timing, I think we will find

         12  places where there needs to be an adjustment.

         13                 But then, for instance, the Green

         14  Book, there are new inserts all the time. So, I

         15  don't know why we could not have inserts until the

         16  next printing that fixes things, rather than just

         17  act like, well, we're not going to change it. I

         18  think it's worth making that effort.

         19                 You know, with our budget I don't

         20  want to ask that we revamp every document, but, for

         21  instance, I know that the City Clerk's Office, most

         22  of their forms are 25 years old, and they're

         23  revamping a lot of that. So, I think if we made this

         24  statement now, as agencies look at it, it would say

         25  to them, as the State law now says to be gender
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          2  neutral, you need to make this a part of the

          3  process.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you,

          5  sir.

          6                 One more question for you. So, a lot

          7  of the changing of language then would probably and

          8  mostly, now I guess most of it is "he," so the

          9  change would be he/she; are those the kinds of

         10  things that we would be looking at?

         11                 MS. MANN ALFARO: Right. We might not

         12  use slashes, but we would say he or she, his or her.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay,

         14  thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me ask,

         16  first I think, Councilwoman Provenzano, your

         17  concerns are legitimate in the sense that the -- let

         18  me just say that there may not be many examples that

         19  come immediately to mind, but there are examples

         20  that have been cited that are not appropriate in

         21  terms of the defining the position or the

         22  responsibility, as a male or female kind of thing,

         23  or gender-specific kind of thing. And I think, you

         24  know, as this Council institutionally, and this City

         25  has been moving towards trying to be sensitive to
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          2  those types of designations that tend historically

          3  in many ways to be male oriented, that there's at

          4  least that symbolic value that this bill has that

          5  it's trying to represent, as well as the substantive

          6  aspect of it, so that the language that is used as

          7  much as possible does not show a bias towards man or

          8  some sort of free inclination in that regard.

          9                 So, I think that's the essence, even

         10  as we may not be able to come up with many examples

         11  today.

         12                 You've indicated that the contracts

         13  to some extent are covered by this, at least in the

         14  sense that they don't invalidate the law, if, in

         15  fact, by some mistake they don't comply with the

         16  law; am I correct?

         17                 MS. MANN ALFARO: Well, we would like

         18  to clarify the bill, so that we will have that

         19  result.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Now, are

         21  videotapes, audiotapes and other media produced by

         22  the City included under this bill, as you understand

         23  it?

         24                 MS. MANN ALFARO: It applies to

         25  materials generated by the City of New York. So, I
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          2  think you could read it that way, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Now the City,

          4  including public schools, sometimes produce

          5  instructional materials that will portray

          6  gender-bias behavior and language as negative

          7  examples. Should these instructional materials be

          8  explicit and exempted by the bill; do you have any

          9  thoughts on that?

         10                 MS. MANN ALFARO: Can you tell me more

         11  about what you're referring to?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, I guess

         13  there's certain behaviors that let's say are male

         14  and that's considered negative, because, you know,

         15  it's aggressive?

         16                 MS. MANN ALFARO: So, if an agency is

         17  producing a video for training purposes about sexual

         18  harassment, and they use gender-biased language to

         19  illustrate the kind of behaviors that they're trying

         20  to address; I think you would want them to be able

         21  to do that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I guess with all

         23  bills it's a question of enforcement comes to mind.

         24  Do you have some sense of how this bill can be

         25  enforced, particularly in light of some of the
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          2  issues that you raised in your statement? I mean,

          3  how would we go about enforcing it?

          4                 MS. MANN ALFARO: Well, you know,

          5  agencies of the City of New York have an obligation

          6  to conduct their operations in accordance with the

          7  City Charter. So, I think you should expect that if

          8  this law is enacted, the agencies will comply with

          9  it.

         10                 I would not recommend that you create

         11  something that people can use to sue and claim that

         12  a particular contract or other document is invalid

         13  because it may have a masculine pronoun and no

         14  matching feminine pronoun.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. Thank you

         16  very much. I appreciate your testimony.

         17                 Are there any other questions?

         18                 Council Member Peter Vallone.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair.

         21                 Let me first state that I agree with

         22  the concept of this bill. I think it's a good thing.

         23  But I also agree with the changes that the

         24  Administration has brought up regarding making this

         25  law prospective and not invalidating any contracts
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          2  and trying to eliminate the possibility of lawsuits

          3  as much as possible, because while I do believe in

          4  the concept in this as something we can get done, I

          5  do not want to see any City money spent in this

          6  regard, either purposely or accidently down the

          7  road, and I would even recommend a best efforts

          8  clause in this so that in order to further reduce

          9  the possibility of any lawsuits down the road, that

         10  the City use its best efforts to eliminate this

         11  language, because it should be eliminated. However,

         12  I don't want to see a lawsuit down the road by

         13  anybody, by someone outside, by a Council member

         14  with an agenda or anything along those lines.

         15                 So, I would recommend those changes,

         16  and thank you for bringing them to our attention,

         17  and for your testimony.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         19  much. I appreciate it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I should have

         21  said Council member with an agenda, I'm sorry.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The next matter

         23  that we'll look at is Intro. 65-A, the Waterfront

         24  Bill, and we'll ask Carter Craft, of Metropolitan

         25  Waterfront Alliance, to please come forward.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 Let me just say, this bill comes to

          3  us primarily by virtue of the fact that the

          4  intention of it is to create an inventory of all the

          5  City-owned waterfronts throughout the City, and that

          6  inventory comes under the jurisdiction of this

          7  Committee by virtue of DCAS, which will be -- since

          8  it's City-owned property. And the Select Committee

          9  who has been spearheading this, through Chairman

         10  David Yassky, had a preliminary hearing on this

         11  matter, but since it is a Select Committee, they

         12  don't actually have the voting power to make this

         13  happen, and, so, since our Committee is the

         14  Committee that ultimately will have to provide the

         15  oversight of this matter through DCAS, that's why

         16  our Committee has to vote on it; is that clear?

         17                 MS. FORD: Would you raise your right

         18  hand to be sworn in?

         19                 Do you promise to tell the whole

         20  truth and nothing but the truth in your testimony

         21  before this Committee and respond honestly to

         22  Council member questions?

         23                 MR. CRAFT: I do.

         24                 MS. FORD: Thank you.

         25                 MR. CRAFT: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. FORD: For the record, please

          3  state your name and affiliation.

          4                 MR. CRAFT: My name is Carter Craft,

          5  I'm Program Director of the Metropolitan Waterfront

          6  Alliance. We're a region-wide network of about 300

          7  community-based labor industry environment trade

          8  associations, block associations.

          9                 I appreciate the opportunity to

         10  testify today. In your packet you can see the

         11  testimony that we submitted on May 7th in support of

         12  Intro. 65. I've reviewed the updated memo prepared

         13  by Council staff, which adapts the original

         14  introduction a little bit of which we also support,

         15  and I think really the best way to describe what

         16  Intro. 65 means for the waterfront is with pictures.

         17  You know, this aerial photograph shows New York

         18  City's waterfront, which for 30 years we've been

         19  saying is 578 miles in length. The study we

         20  commissioned this spring actually found that New

         21  York City's Waterfront is 532 miles in length. In

         22  the 30 years since we came up with that number we've

         23  literally watched our waterfront disappear by

         24  fragmented management and just lack of oversight.

         25  So, I really appreciate the opportunity of this

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  Committee and of the Select Committee on Waterfronts

          3  to give it a close look.

          4                 The first picture on the top of the

          5  packet to me illustrates very well what the City

          6  uses its waterfront for, and it's really to meet

          7  whatever need might be there at that particular

          8  time.

          9                 That salt pile along the Harlem River

         10  lays in between two Parks Department initiatives to

         11  create continuous public access along the Harlem

         12  River, really picks up on something that was started

         13  under Borough President Ruth Messinger almost ten

         14  years ago. Giuliani even liked it, tried to push it,

         15  and now that the Bloomberg Administration has picked

         16  up on it, it looks like we may actually see it some

         17  day.

         18                 Number one, administration. Having

         19  the waterfront administered by more than a dozen

         20  public agencies leads to a fragmented, almost policy

         21  void, almost the opposite of an overlap that creates

         22  a void, because there's no central control, no

         23  centralized management, no centralized

         24  administration.

         25                 There on the Harlem River you have a
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          2  piece of property that was originally the property

          3  of the Department of Parks. It was passed over to

          4  DCAS to an MOU now with the Department of

          5  Sanitation. So, here we have an administration that

          6  has stepped up and said, in the next four years

          7  we'll create this continuous public access around

          8  Manhattan Waterfront, and as Borough President

          9  Fields' Office realized, well, it ain't going to be

         10  that continuous, because DOT has in mind a staging

         11  area for FDR reconstruction that's going to create

         12  that waterfront as a staging area until 2013, 11

         13  more years, on a project that hasn't even started

         14  yet.

         15                 We believe that Intro. 65 by

         16  centralizing the management and administration and

         17  the reporting mechanism for the waterfront will

         18  enable the Council through oversight and legislation

         19  relieve the burden of public agencies to accumulate

         20  this information, and better empower communities to

         21  see what's going on in their waterfront and

         22  therefore create a better vision to know what they

         23  want and how to get there.

         24                 That leads to picture number two,

         25  which was a photograph I took off the Washington
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          2  Bridge, shows the other side of the Harlem River, in

          3  the Bronx, and what you have there, from Spite and

          4  Dival (phonetic) south to the Oak Point Yard is

          5  really the whole Bronx length of the waterfront,

          6  you've got the Metro North Railroad tracks, the

          7  freight line, called the "Oak Point Link," and about

          8  a dozen and a half parcels that are under the

          9  administration of Parks Department, Metro North,

         10  Putnam Railroad, DCAS.

         11                 What you have is in some cases, one

         12  one side you'll have a parks parcel, then DCAS

         13  parcel, then another Parks parcel, and without any

         14  centralized oversight, in terms of looking at what

         15  these properties are, we're never going to be able

         16  to put the pieces together.

         17                 Early on there was concern that

         18  Intro. 65 was all about making the waterfront clean

         19  and green and access everywhere, and we realize that

         20  access is an important component of it, but we want

         21  Intro. 65 to not just enable people to get to the

         22  water but for all of us to see what the waterfront

         23  should be used for.

         24                 We're not asking for facilities to be

         25  relocated. In the place of the salt pile, you know,
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          2  you could just as easily move the staging yard back

          3  ten feet, and create access along the Harlem River,

          4  around that facility. That's exactly what State DOT

          5  did in the construction of Hudson River Park along

          6  the West Side of Manhattan through Councilman

          7  Quinn's district, so, why shouldn't the east side

          8  and the Harlem River community get the same

          9  attention.

         10                 So, we support Intro. 65 with the

         11  additions that the central staff and the Committees

         12  have made, and I'd be happy to answer any questions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         14  Reed.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chair, and I'm very pleased that we are having this

         17  dialogue today. Both of these photos, I know the

         18  first one and the second one are in my district, I

         19  represent the South Bronx, and it's been the first

         20  thing that almost everybody in the district raises

         21  about our environment, our access to open air, that

         22  either side, you can't get to either side.

         23                 And there has been an arrogance on

         24  the part of the agencies that own or control this

         25  property, and, so, just the example that you use, I
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          2  think is appreciated about the west side, how they

          3  just simply move the damn thing back ten feet so you

          4  could drive around.

          5                 There's a beautiful esplanade, as I

          6  was explaining to my colleague from Queens that you

          7  can't access, you're stuck on the east side

          8  esplanade, and people are fearful because there's no

          9  way to get out. So, if you kept going down there on

         10  a bike, and somebody wants to approach you for

         11  criminal activity, you have no way to get out of the

         12  place, so it's not used, and then people say, oh,

         13  well, the community doesn't want it. It's not that

         14  the community doesn't want it, the community is not

         15  stupid about how they want to use things. And, so,

         16  I'm grateful. I wish the bill went further and

         17  placed in law a general oversight of what the

         18  requirements were when agencies had this. This is

         19  really just like an accumulation of it, but that you

         20  had to do X, Y and Z, and I would hope that we would

         21  look to that in the future.

         22                 You know, when we travel outside of

         23  the City, I'm sure many of us, people are always

         24  amazed when I say the City of New York has beaches.

         25  People are always amazed when I say the City has
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          2  waterfront. Because nobody visualizes that as a

          3  concept that New York actually is virtually

          4  completely surrounded by marvelous waterfronts.

          5                 So, I'm supportive of this, but,

          6  again, I would like to see us look further, whether

          7  there's an agency specific to that so that DCAS or

          8  DOT have to meet certain mandates, even if we were

          9  in flux and don't know how to use the property quite

         10  yet, that there are certain criteria that has to be

         11  met, and that the City have a responsibility to

         12  ensure that the community knows how it has access to

         13  all these various waterfront points.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         16  Addabbo.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chair.

         19                 Good afternoon. My counsel, my

         20  colleague, Council Member Phil Reed mentioned about

         21  our beaches, and my district includes Rockaway

         22  beaches, and here we are of utmost interested in our

         23  waterfronts. I had the pleasure of voting for this

         24  bill as a member of the Waterfronts Committee just

         25  last week in favor of, and I'm a proud sponsor of
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          2  it. Why? Because I think our waterfronts are so

          3  underutilized, and to get information back on what

          4  the City has so we can determine, you know, identify

          5  what we have so we can determine how to work with

          6  them and develop them I think is of utmost

          7  importance.

          8                 And correct me if I'm wrong, it's of

          9  little or no cost, additional cost to the City to

         10  get this additional information; is that correct?

         11                 MR. CRAFT: That is correct. We

         12  already collect it through the Gazeteer, which is

         13  published once a year.

         14                 You'll notice in the amended bill it

         15  will be moved back to being published twice a year,

         16  and we pointed out in the original hearing we

         17  collect the information, we know that's going on on

         18  different blocks and lots, we know which one is MTA,

         19  DOT, DEP, PD, et cetera, we're just asking to add up

         20  the columns.

         21                 I mean, my analogy is, it's like

         22  collecting taxes and not doing a budget. Figuring

         23  out how to do it. You know, for me, when I got

         24  married two years ago, the first time my wife and I

         25  balanced the checking account together, that took a
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          2  long time, but, you know, the second month it got

          3  easier, the next month after that it got easier, it

          4  gets a little easier every time. You need to be

          5  systematized.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: So, from no

          7  cost at all, we're getting, you know, a huge amount

          8  of information, and which also forms a strategy for

          9  development. And as Chair of the Parks Committee

         10  here at the City Council, again, I am very

         11  interested in obviously possible development of new

         12  parkland, economic development along the waterfront.

         13  So, I think it's a great Intro., and I'm just glad

         14  to be a sponsor of it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chair.

         20                 That budget thing is getting easier

         21  because you've only been married two years, just so

         22  you know.

         23                 Let me just in my district -- it took

         24  you long enough, though. My district, as you know,

         25  District 22 does have a large amount of waterfront
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          2  to it, and I support the work that the Metropolitan

          3  Waterfront Alliance has been doing. We've been

          4  working together, and my colleague, Joe Addabbo,

          5  with the Committee, and David Yassky, and I also do

          6  believe this is important and support you in this.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:

          8  Councilwoman Provenzano.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         10                 I'm really very pleased to have you

         11  here today and see this. I'm from the Bronx, and I

         12  don't know if it's symbolic, but I noticed on this

         13  little map, this little thing over here is the

         14  Bronx, and this great big blob over here is Staten

         15  Island, and we all know the Bronx is bigger than

         16  Staten Island, and I can say that because I was born

         17  in Staten Island.

         18                 But one of the things I think I have

         19  noticed all my life is the total misuse of

         20  waterfronts in our City. You drive up and down the

         21  west side, up and down the east side, and you look

         22  at what's there and you say to yourself, but why?

         23  You know, there's just so much that we could be

         24  doing with this waterfront.

         25                 And I also think the new Subcommittee
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          2  is a great idea, and this is a great start to do

          3  something and to make our waterfronts truly

          4  beautiful. You go to any, you know, west coast, you

          5  go to San Francisco and here you just, it's like you

          6  can't get near the water, it's there, you know. It's

          7  near and it's not near, so I just want to commend

          8  the sponsors of this bill and thank you for being

          9  here today.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilman Leroy

         11  Comrie.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Good morning.

         13  I'm curious to inquire, how is your group funded?

         14  Are you a City agency? Or you're not a City agency?

         15                 MR. CRAFT: We're a not for profit

         16  organization. We're based at the urban center in

         17  Madison and 50th. Our fiscal agent is the Municipal

         18  Arts Society of New York. We get about 80 percent of

         19  our funding through private grants, about five

         20  percent from individuals, and about 15 percent from

         21  state sources for specific projects.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And you feel

         23  comfortable with DCAS being the agency that would

         24  maintain and manage the properties or do the

         25  inventory? They're doing inventory.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Gazateer, yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, the bill

          4  is really just for them to do the inventory. But who

          5  would start to do the planning for long-range usage?

          6                 MR. CRAFT: Well, right now the City

          7  has a 197-A plan that covers the whole City, called

          8  the Local Waterfront Revitalization Program. It's

          9  taken us about 30 years to get it into a shape that

         10  is consistent with federal and state standards. It's

         11  all mandated under the Management Act of 1972. The

         12  City submitted its plan I think at the end of 2000

         13  to the State and it's been sitting at the State

         14  level for about a year and a half waiting for

         15  someone to sign something or hold a press

         16  conference, I'm not exactly sure what's holding it

         17  up.

         18                 So, the plan is already out there.

         19  This would be sort of the back end that's creating

         20  the index and then hopefully the two will be

         21  resolved.

         22                 In reality the plan itself is

         23  binding, zoning can always be changed. This is no

         24  guarantee that waterfront property is actually to

         25  start to be managed, it just really creates a tool
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          2  for groups like us for governing bodies like

          3  yourselves to hold something over the different

          4  agencies to create a baseline of agency or municipal

          5  performance to see whose doing the best job.

          6                 You know, when the first listing came

          7  out through the Waterfronts Committee in February,

          8  sort of looking at the waterfront waste, every

          9  agency had sort of a different embarrassing story,

         10  depending on your borough, depending on your

         11  particular piece of property. So, this tool will

         12  really be an important, you know, a tool for you, a

         13  weapon for us or whoever, to gauge the performance

         14  of the agency's over time so that we can see, you

         15  know, enable to see that improvement is actually

         16  being made.

         17                 Because as it is now, nobody really

         18  knows what's going on out there.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you think

         20  we should develop another agency to replace the

         21  ports and terminals to take over the management and

         22  planning for the waterfront?

         23                 MR. CRAFT: That's a great question,

         24  because in my mind, you know, having come out of

         25  parks and DOT, I'm not necessarily in favor of
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          2  creating another, another, another agency. But a lot

          3  of the problems that we have today, and the Land Use

          4  embarrassments, and the Land Use misallocations, are

          5  caused by that void that came about when the

          6  Department of Ports and Trade was disbanded.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

          8                 MR. CRAFT: So, when that department

          9  was disbanded, you had parkland going to parks, you

         10  had highly developable parcels going to Public

         11  Development Corporation, now EDC, you had the old

         12  piers going to Business Services, and you had sort

         13  of the fallow or not so marketable properties going

         14  to DCAS.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

         16                 MR. CRAFT: So, having the inventory

         17  at DCAS enables all of us to better manage it, but

         18  it's going to take some action either from over

         19  there or from the Council to really find the right

         20  agency or the right office to manage it, because

         21  DCAS is Administrative Services. They're not

         22  management, they're not strategic.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: That's why I

         24  wanted to ask the questions, because DCAS is

         25  administrative, and if we're going to move towards
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          2  2012, which I think we all want to go to, I think

          3  that having some plan to utilize the waterfronts, or

          4  develop the waterfronts into an overall City plan to

          5  integrate with 2012. I know they have a layout and

          6  some things that deal with it. I've seen their plan

          7  about four times. I think we need a Citywide plan,

          8  or a Citywide at least focus with some agency,

          9  maybe, you know, maybe making them AA, part of a

         10  regular part of this process to make sure that we

         11  have an overall development plan, even if it's just

         12  bringing you into Council hearings on a regular

         13  basis to let us know how DCAS is managing, and how

         14  we're monitoring these agencies, since you're acting

         15  as our non-for-profit watchdog at the moment.

         16                 MR. CRAFT: We think 65 is a good

         17  first step, but I think you're exactly right that

         18  we've got to figure out how to bring the

         19  transportation expertise, the recreation expertise,

         20  the economic development expertise, centralize

         21  somewhere, but we don't quite have the answer to

         22  that yet.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I think that's

         24  something we need to work on as general counsel,

         25  because I think that the waterfront, I know that
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          2  growing up I used to enjoy going out to the

          3  Rockaways and the spot that I went to is just in

          4  terrible condition now, and because we don't have an

          5  overall comprehensive maintenance plan or

          6  development plan, which we really need for our

          7  waterfront.

          8                 I happened to be looking at the City

          9  of Dilan in China yesterday, at some PBS program

         10  that I watched for a minute, and they've integrated

         11  their waterfront as part of their overall economic

         12  development plan, but they've actually put major

         13  corporate centers along the waterfront and built

         14  most of their convention centers to integrate the

         15  beauty and essence of the waterfront, and we're

         16  losing a major opportunity, I think.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: DCAS will be, as

         18  the bill indicates and the Committee report

         19  indicates, compiling an inventory of the City-owned

         20  waterfront property and developing a report, the

         21  Gazeteer, to be available semi-annually, that is

         22  every other year, as opposed to biannually, that is

         23  twice a year. So, I just wanted to get that

         24  distinction, because I think you may have misspoke

         25  when you said biannually.
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          2                 MR. CRAFT: Okay, I meant --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I know you know

          4  better than me, I think you probably just misspoke

          5  and I just wanted for the record to clear that up.

          6                 Council Member Phil Reed.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes, I just

          8  think the suggestion, and I think it's been

          9  applauded, but I think Council Member Comrie

         10  articulated it best, and I've been chatting with

         11  Council Member Addabbo, I think we want to look

         12  towards actually putting public waterfront in a

         13  committee that has jurisdiction -- I mean, well, an

         14  agency, and therefore, of course the Council, if we

         15  controlled it that would probably make life simpler,

         16  but complicated by Charter. So, I think we could

         17  come up with a good plan.

         18                 But I do think that that's an idea.

         19  In fact, I'm going to look to writing some

         20  legislation to that with Council Member Addabbo,

         21  because it doesn't make sense that it's

         22  compartmentalized as this is, and it doesn't take

         23  these considerations into -- doesn't consider the

         24  ideas that we're putting forward.

         25                 So, I'm looking forward to all of you
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          2  sponsoring that bill with Council Member Addabbo and

          3  myself.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Not meaning to

          5  -- I think it's a wonderful --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: In other words,

          7  you're not going to be able to preempt me --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The train of

          9  thought that you're sharing, you know there is a

         10  Select Committee on Waterfront Development, and

         11  there has been, I should say, in case you don't

         12  know, they've been looking at this idea themselves,

         13  so I would suggest --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: We'll certainly

         15  share it with Council Member Yassky.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I would suggest

         17  protocol-wise that you have some conversation with

         18  the Chairman of that Committee so that you are not,

         19  you know, stepping on toes that you don't mean to. I

         20  believe he would welcome your support in that vain.

         21                 Are there any other questions from

         22  the members?

         23                 If not, thank you very much for your

         24  testimony, and keep up the good work.

         25                 MR. CRAFT: Thanks. One last thing,
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          2  actually at the top of your packet was an invitation

          3  to an exhibit we have opening this Wednesday, which

          4  has a giant floor map of the entire New York City

          5  waterfront showing the brownfields, the railroads,

          6  the ferry stops, the parks and open spaces, and we'd

          7  be happy to schedule a walkthrough or briefing for

          8  the Committee some time at the end of the month, if

          9  there's interest.

         10                 Thanks.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I assume the

         12  Select Committee on Waterfront is involved with this

         13  tour? Chairman Yassky's Committee I assume is

         14  involved. Again, I would recommend you try to

         15  coordinate that through their committee, because

         16  that's their jurisdiction so-to-speak.

         17                 We're ready to vote. I just want to

         18  remind you that the name change bill with regard to

         19  the Health and Mental Hygiene is going to be

         20  effective as of today, even though in fact it may

         21  not be signed until later, okay? But it will be

         22  effective as of July 1st, so --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: It would be a

         24  retroactive bill, wouldn't it, Council member?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, it is
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          2  retroactive, and it's sort of the kind of bill that

          3  we've been trying to get --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: It's a

          5  retroactive date, right?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: It's a

          7  retroactive bill, yes. You thought they had problems

          8  with retroactivity?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You know, I've

         10  found it radioactive when you said retroactive in

         11  some ways.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Some bills are

         13  radioactive when they become retroactive.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: No question

         16  about that.

         17                 We're working on getting some kind of

         18  insulation.

         19                 Okay, we're ready to proceed.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Aye on all.

         22  Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Nelson.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Aye on all. I

          5  have a question. Are we going to be called back here

          6  to do over the Department of Public Health, the

          7  Department of Mental -- of Health and Mental Hygiene

          8  and Womental Hygiene? Mental, is there going to be

          9  something in there too?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: This is the

         11  reason why summer meetings can be problematic.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye on all.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Aye on all.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Aye on all.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye on all.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Aye on all.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of nine in

         23  the affirmative, zero in the negative and not

         24  abstentions, both items are adopted. Please sign the

         25  Committee report.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to thank

          3  the members for their attendance. I want to thank

          4  staff for their hard work. I want to thank the

          5  witnesses for their testimony. I wish everyone a

          6  pleasant summer. See you next week for our next

          7  hearing.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 12:20 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7
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          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the
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